1951

Howard F. Seybold v. Union Pacific Railroad Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

(All figures in parentheses are the page number of the record. The parties will be referred to as they appeared in the lower court.)

This is an appeal by plaintiff (210) from a judgment and decree (208) entered by the court after granting defendant's motion to set aside verdict and judgment entered thereon and to enter judgment for the defendant notwithstanding said verdict (207).

This was an action to recover damages for personal injuries suffered by the plaintiff in a railroad crossing accident occurring at Roberts, Idaho, November 14, 1949. The case was tried before a jury and a verdict rendered in plaintiff's favor in the sum of \$1,500.00 (10).

During the trial of the case the defendant made a motion for a directed verdict and the court in denying said motion stated that he believed the case resolved itself into a jury question (150). After the jury returned the foregoing verdict the defendant filed a motion for a new trial (205) and a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (207). The trial court by its judgment and decree kept under advisement the motion for a new trial but granted the motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury and entered judgment in favor of defendant (208).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a usual crossing case in the sense that the testimony of plaintiff and the railroad is in direct conflict. Plaintiff testified that it was not very easy to see and that it was quite dark (22) at the time of the collision and that the caboose came onto the crossing without lights and without warning or signals of any kind. The railroad introduced evidence that the crossing was light, that bells and gongs were ringing and lights were on the caboose and men were standing on the caboose and in the crossing signaling with lights and voice to plain-

tiff to stop. Since the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict was granted the evidence must be viewed in its light most favorable to plaintiff. We, therefore, in making this statement, will follow this well-established rule and state the evidence as presented by plaintiff.

The accident occurred at the Rigby Crossing at Roberts, Idaho, at approximately 7:00 o'clock P.M. on the 14th day of November, 1949 (17). The plaintiff was driving a truck from Leadore, Idaho, to the auction yards at Idaho Falls. The truck was loaded with eighteen head of beef cattle. It was a 1½-ton heavy-use truck with a 26-foot semi-trailer. The trailer was attached to the cab of the truck (16). The tracks of the defendant railroad company run in a north-south direction and the highway crosses these tracks at right angles and runs east and west. The plaintiff, at the time of the collision, was driving in an easterly direction and the caboose of the defendant was proceeding south over the crossing and was on the so-called passing track. A detailed description of the crossing should here be given.

THE CROSSING

In the file is found a pencil diagram, not drawn to scale, of the crossing and its immediate surroundings. While this was not introduced as an exhibit, it is an accurate portrayal of the diagram which was placed on the blackboard and referred to by the witnesses during the course of the trial.

There are three tracks on this crossing, each of which runs north and south. The tracks are parallel with Highway No. 91. Between 150 and 175 feet south (59) of the depot Highway No. 48, running in an east and west direction, crosses the three tracks and connects with Highway No. 91. Plaintiff was proceeding south on Highway 91 and turned east onto Highway No. 48 and across the tracks. The three tracks, starting from the west, are known as the Team Track, the Passing Track and the Main Line Track. The distance from the middle of Highway No. 91 to the middle of the Team Track is 79 feet, from the Team Track to the Passing Track 43 feet, and from the Passing Track to the Main Line Track 17 feet. There are red flasher signal lights on each side of the crossing. These signals are 15 feet west of the Team Track and 15 feet east of the Main Line Track. The depot building itself is north of the crossing and east of the tracks. The surroundings are portrayed by pictures introduced in evidence as Defendant's Exhibits "1" to "6" inclusive. At the time of the collision the crossing was shrouded in darkness (22, 38).

This crossing was extensively used. It appeared that trucks had been using it all day long on the day of the accident (136, 139).

THE ACCIDENT

Plaintiff was driving his truck in a southerly direction on Highway No. 91. He made a left hand turn from this highway onto Highway No. 48. He slowed at the

intersection, made the turn and stopped at the flasher light, which was in operation (18). He described the turn as a "rather hard one to make" and estimated his speed at about five or six miles per hour and stated that the cattle being as top heavy as they were he could not negotiate that turn going more than seven or eight miles on hour at the most (18). He caused his truck to come to a complete stop at this flasher and noted that the locomotive was standing on the main line track (18, 38) between the depot and the crossing (19). It was headed south. He saw the big headlight of the engine shining across the crossing in a southerly direction. He estimated that the engine was about 75 feet from the crossing. It was not in motion. He knew that the engine on the main line track activated the flasher signal at the crossing. Believing that the standing engine was activating the flasher he shifted into first gear and started across the crossing (19). Because of his knowledge that the engine was making the flasher work he considered that it was safe to go across the crossing. As he proceeded to traverse the crossing, he kept his eyes on the engine and the road (20). He did not see anything until the light of the engine seemed to black out and then he looked up and noticed the caboose. At the time the caboose was just a few feet from plaintiff's truck and was on the passing track. He merely got a fleeting glimpse of the caboose—not more than a second. He did not notice any lights on the caboose and saw no people there. No one was on the road as he attempted to traverse the crossing (21).

Plaintiff detailed the observations he made as he proceeded over the crossing on cross-examination as follows (39, 40) :

“Q. Did you look along the passing track to your left?

“A. It was quite dark there, and that locomotive headlight was flashing across the crossing. I looked, I couldn't see anything at that time.

“Q. Did you look up this track to your left?

“A. Yes, I did.

“Q. You said you didn't see anything?

“A. That is right.

“Q. After you proceeded across, you said you saw the caboose just before the collision?

“A. Yes, I did.

“Q. How far away was it?

“A. Oh, it was six or seven feet.

* * * * *

“Q. Did you see the man at the end of the caboose, on the platform?

“A. I didn't see a man on the caboose.

“Q. Did you look at the platform?

“A. You don't have much time to look that close.

“Q. Did you look to see if a man was on there?

“A. Not to look to see if there was a man on there.

“Q. You would say there was no man there?

“A. I would say there was no man there.

“Q. You would testify there was not a man there?

“A. Yes.

“Q. Did you see the lights?

“A. No, sir.

“Q. You had to look awfully fast?

“A. Yes.

“Q. You would testify there were no lights?

“A. Yes, there were no lights.

“Q. You would say there were no lights on the caboose?

“A. I would say there were no lights on the caboose.

“Q. There were no lights inside the caboose?

“A. No lights.

“Q. No lights at all?

“A. That is right.

“Q. It was completely dark?

“A. That is right.”

Plaintiff testified that there were no lights at this crossing and a person cannot see anything; that by the time he had gotten as far as he had the arc lights were behind him and also the street lights of Roberts and there were no bright lights he could see (21).

Plaintiff was dazed for a period of time after which he made observations as to the relative positions of the truck and caboose (22). The impact occurred just at the rear of the door of the cab on the truck. The caboose, after it hit the truck, glanced off and ran up on the cattle rack and was hooked there. The rack and cab of the truck had turned partly over on its side and the caboose was keeping the cab of the truck from going on over (22).

In the collision plaintiff received gashes on his head and his left knee and the cartilage of his knee was torn (24, 26).

We will not go into the details of the damages resulting to plaintiff from the injuries sustained because the only matter of interest on this appeal is whether there was sufficient evidence to support the jury's finding of liability against the defendant company.

The defendant introduced in this case what may be termed *the usual railroad evidence*. If the plaintiff crossed the crossing under the conditions described by defendant's testimony, the only conclusion that reasonable persons could reach is that plaintiff was attempting to commit suicide.

The conductor of the crew that had charge of this caboose testified he was standing in the middle of the crossing between the main line and the passing tracks; that he was yelling and waiving his electric lamp to attract the attention of the plaintiff (61, 63). He testi-

fied that the engine was halfway between the north switch and the depot, which would mean that the engine was some 400 feet from the crossing at the time the accident occurred. Of course, this employee of defendant had to admit that it was his duty to stand at the crossing to conform to the rules of the defendant company under the conditions there existing and his failure to be there would have been grounds for discipline (75). This would be a good reason to discredit his testimony, because he obviously had a motive for testifying as he did (75).

Howard Kunze, the rear brakeman, testified that he was on the south end of the caboose as it approached the crossing (112). Before reaching the crossing he took up the slack on the chain to the brake preparatory to stopping on the other side of the crossing. When he was 105 feet from the crossing he noticed plaintiff's truck (113). The truck at that time was going south on Highway No. 91. After plaintiff made the turn onto Highway No. 48 he heard the engine of the truck accelerate and it came over the crossing (114). He testified he was in plain sight, hollering and waving the lantern at the plaintiff and then the collision occurred (115).

There were other witnesses for defendant but the above is the substance of defendant's case. The jury did not believe this testimony but chose to accept the plaintiff's testimony and returned a verdict for him. The railroad testimony here was just a little too good to be believed unless it could be established that plaintiff was bent on suicide.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENTERING JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANT, NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED A JURY QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NOT THE DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CAUSING PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED A JURY QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NOT THE PLAINTIFF WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE WHICH CONTRIBUTED TO PROXIMATELY CAUSE HIS OWN INJURIES.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENTERING JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANT, NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF.

The only grounds upon which the trial court could have entered judgment in favor of defendant notwithstanding the jury verdict in favor of plaintiff was either (1) that as matter of law the evidence did not support a finding of negligence on the part of defendant proximately causing plaintiff's injuries, or (2) that as matter

of law plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence. In order to justify this ruling of the trial court it is necessary that reasonable minds could not differ upon the propositions presented. We submit that the evidence in this case presented jury questions on both of these propositions and that the trial court erred in its ruling granting defendant's motion and in entering judgment in favor of defendant.

We will discuss the evidence in detail under the following points of the brief. There is nothing in the record indicating the ground upon which the trial court entered the judgment in favor of defendant. It will, therefore, be necessary to discuss each of the propositions mentioned.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED A JURY QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NOT THE DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CAUSING PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

The trial court by its Instruction No. 3 (186, 187) set forth the six grounds of negligence alleged in plaintiff's complaint. By its Instruction No. 8 (192) the court instructed the jury that in order to find a verdict for plaintiff the jury must find by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant was negligent in one or more of the particulars set forth in Instruction No. 3.

We submit that the evidence in this case supported a finding of negligence upon the grounds mentioned in said instructions. However, in order to support plaintiff's position that error was committed in entering judgment for defendant it is only necessary that the court conclude there was sufficient evidence to support a finding that defendant was negligent in one of said particulars and that such negligence proximately caused injuries to plaintiff.

The situation which existed at the crossing at the time plaintiff attempted to traverse it constituted a hazardous condition. The crossing was dark. As plaintiff proceeded in an easterly direction, the arc lights and the neon signs and lights in the stores west of the highway were behind him. The engine formed a dark background as it stood on the main line track. The caboose as it approached the crossing was moving on the westerly side of the engine. The engine would create a condition making it extremely difficult, if not impossible, to see the caboose. The headlight of the engine shone south onto the crossing, adding further to the difficulty of seeing the caboose. The caboose was drifting along the passing track and would make no noise as it approached the crossing. This condition required that precautions be taken by the defendant in affording a warning to motorists traversing the crossing in an easterly direction. It would be necessary for some type of signal to be given other than merely the flasher signals on either side of the tracks. A person approaching this crossing could well

believe that the signals were being activated by the engine on the main line track. This being so, further signals were necessary. These signals should have been in the form of lights on the caboose, thereby making its movement and presence known to persons on the crossing or by some person standing on the crossing for the purpose of giving further signals to motorists. As shown in the statement of facts, plaintiff testified that there were no lights on the caboose (40) and there was no person standing at or near the crossing giving signals for the purpose of having him stop (21). The position of the engine approximately 75 feet north of the crossing was in violation of the rule of the railroad which was introduced in evidence as Exhibit "B."

We submit that this evidence establishes that the defendant was guilty of negligence in the manner in which it conducted these switching operations over and across this crossing. This negligence consisted of a failure to give any warning whatsoever of the approach of this caboose either by reasonably adequate signals or warning at the crossing or by warning with adequate lights or audible signal on the caboose itself. The railroad was also negligent in placing its engine, in violation of its own safety rules, a scant 75 feet from the crossing, thereby creating an obstruction to a view of the caboose as it approached the crossing.

SIGNALS AT THE CROSSING

We submit a jury could properly find that defendant company, to exercise reasonable care, should have stationed a flagman on the crossing under the circumstances existing at the time plaintiff attempted to drive across. A person could reasonably believe that the flasher signal was being activated by the stationary engine on the main line track and, hence, the jury could have found that this signal was not adequate. The caboose with no lights approached on the passing track against the dark background of the engine. There was a conflict in the evidence as to the presence of a flagman on the crossing. Plaintiff testified that there was no flagman there and no signal given. We submit that under the authorities a jury question was thereby made out.

The conductor, Ray, admitted on the witness stand that the rules of the defendant company required that under the circumstances existing at Roberts he, as conductor, should flag the crossing (75). In direct conflict with the testimony of plaintiff this conductor testified that he in fact flagged the crossing and was attempting to stop plaintiff from traversing the crossing. From these circumstances alone the jury could infer that reasonable care required that the crossing be flagged under the conditions then and there existing. The very purpose of this rule was to protect the railroad company not only so far as its own equipment was concerned but also to protect travelers on the highway who might come

into collision with the caboose as it silently drifted southward hidden by the dark background of the engine and the glare of the headlight.

The great weight of authority holds that safety rules of a railroad company are admissible in evidence for the consideration of the jury in determining whether or not by violating such rules the railroad company was negligent. See *Pollard v. Roberson*, (Ga.) 6 S.E. 2d 203; *Callaway v. Pickard*, (Ga.) 23 S.E. 2d 564; *Southern Pacific Co. v. Haight*, 126 F. 2d 900; *Peizer v. City of Seattle*, 24 P. 2d 444; *Stevens v. Boston Elevated Ry. Co.*, 184 Mass. 476, 69 N.E. 338; *Canham v. Rhode Island Co.*, 35 Rhode Island 177, 85 Atl. 1050; *Hurley v. Connecticut Co.*, 118 Conn. 276, 172 Atl. 86; *Warner v. Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Company*, 168 U. S. 339, 18 S. Ct. 68, 42 L. Ed. 491; *Deister v. Atchison T. & S. F. Ry. Co.*, 99 Kan. 525, 162 P. 282, L.R.A. 1917 C 784. See 2 *Wigmore on Evidence*, 3rd Ed., Sec. 282, at page 132.

Numerous cases have held that it is negligence under certain circumstances to fail to flag a crossing. We submit that under the authorities the case at bar presents such a situation and plaintiff's testimony that no person flagged the crossing presents an evidentiary basis for a finding of negligence on the part of defendant. The Tenth Circuit has had occasion to consider this matter of flagging crossings. In *Chicago & N.W. Ry. Co. v. Golay*, 155 F. 2d 842, 844, a collision occurred at a railroad crossing in Wyoming. At a crossing where there

was an obstruction on the northwest corner, the tracks running in an east-west direction and the road in a north-south direction. The plaintiff's automobile was proceeding southerly and the train easterly. In speaking of the relative duties of railroads and travelers on the highways the court stated:

“* * * But the rights of the general public and the rights of the railway company at street crossings are mutual and reciprocal; and, although common convenience gives to trains precedence over automobiles in the use of crossings, it is upon the condition that the company will give due warning of the approach of its train in order that those in automobiles may stop safely and wait for the trains to pass. What constitutes reasonable and timely warning depends upon the circumstances and surroundings. For instance, the vigilance and care must be greater at crossings in a populous city or town where the travel is great than at ordinary crossings in the country. And, as a general rule, whether reasonable care and prudence require under all the circumstances that special warning facilities be maintained at a crossing in a city or town is a question of fact for the jury.”

In the case at bar there was testimony that considerable traffic had passed over this crossing during the day of the collision (136, 139).

The presence of an undue amount of traffic is not essential in order to make a jury question of negligence in failing to have a flagman at a crossing. This is ex-

emplified by another case of the Tenth Circuit: *Interstate Motor Lines, Inc., v. Great Western Ry. Co.*, 161 F. 2d 968, 972, wherein the court stated:

“* * * But the mere fact that a crossing is in the country does not necessarily in all circumstances relieve the railway company of any duty to maintain a special warning signal. If a crossing in the country is peculiarly dangerous to travelers on account of its location, or mode of construction, or because the track is curved, *or the view is obstructed*, the railroad company is required in the exercise of ordinary care to meet the peril with a special warning signal such as a bell, an electric wigwag, a flash signal, or other like caution.”

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