1951

Howard F. Seybold v. Union Pacific Railroad Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

tified. The rules of law concerning the conduct of a trial are neither so technical nor so strict as to leave the trial court helpless before an unjust verdict.

Counsel for the plaintiff in effect charge the defendant with permitting and encouraging, if not participating in, criminal conduct before the trial court. Such a charge cannot remain unchallenged. It emphasizes the need for a careful scrutiny of the entire record in order that the Supreme Court may itself evaluate the worth of the conflicting evidence. The following facts not adequately covered by counsel for the plaintiff in their brief are worthy of emphasis, although they, too, are insufficient to present a complete picture of the evidence.

The main portion of the town of Roberts, where the railroad crossing in question is located, is on Highway 91, which highway was parallel to and 79 feet distant from the defendant's Team Track and 122 feet from the Passing Track (37, 127). The flasher signal where the plaintiff claims he stopped his truck is 15 feet west from the center of the Team Track (127). There were several electric lights burning on the various stores fronting Highway 91 (38, 128-130). There was an arc light burning just south of the crossing (128). There was a second arc light burning east of Highway 91 between the highway and the Team Track and about 300 feet north of the crossing (129). The trackage area in defendant's yards at Roberts was visible from the sidewalk on the west side of Highway 91 (143, 130). The following witnesses testified there was a light on the front of the caboose which collided with the truck

plaintiff was driving: Enos Ray, Conductor, who was standing on the crossing and had a clear view of the caboose as it approached (63, 64); Gerald Sullivan, Engineer, who was in the cab of the defendant's engine and saw lights on the caboose when it was kicked down toward the crossing (101); Howard Kunze, Brakeman, who testified he was riding on the front or south end of the caboose, and who stated there were marker lights on the southwest corner thereof and that he himself carried an electric lantern which he was waving (112, 114, 121); George Dutson, who was working in a store on the west side of Highway 91 (136, 137); and Joe Tirre, who was standing on the sidewalk between a tavern and a hotel on the west side of Highway 91 (143). The plaintiff testified on direct examination that he approached the railroad crossing, saw the flasher lights operating, observed the engine north of the crossing on the main line track, concluded this engine was making the flasher signals operate and so proceeded over the crossing, keeping his eyes on the engine and the road ahead (20). He saw the caboose at a glance only for not more than a second before the collision and he did not notice any lights on it (21). On cross examination he testified he knew there were three tracks at this crossing; did not look north along the Team Track as he proceeded over this track; did look to the north along the Passing Track, but the locomotive headlight was flashing across the crossing and he did not see anything (39). He further testified there was no man on the caboose, although he did not have time to make proper observation since his first and only glance at the caboose was when it was 6 or 7 feet away and he had to look awfully fast (39, 40).

THE PLAINTIFF WAS GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The plaintiff's evidence with respect to the alleged negligence on the part of the defendant was so meager and speculative, and the defendant's evidence to the contrary was so overwhelming, that we feel the trial court would probably have been justified in granting the defendant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict because of a failure of proof on this issue, alone. However, the defendant does not now rely upon the plaintiff's failure to prove that defendant was negligent, nor do we believe the trial court relied upon such a failure of proof in granting judgment to the defendant. The controlling issue in this case—the one which we believe prompted the court to grant its judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and the only issue that need be analyzed to demonstrate the correctness of the court's action—is the question of the plaintiff's contributory negligence. Therefore, without conceding the validity of the plaintiff's argument with respect to the defendant's negligence, we shall confine this brief to a consideration of the plaintiff's own negligence which was a contributing cause of this crossing accident, if not the sole cause thereof.

In our analysis of this issue we accept, of course, the fundamental rule asserted by counsel for the plaintiff that on this appeal the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. However, to this rule must be added the equally elementary qualification that it is ap-

plicable only as to conflicting evidence which creates a question to be resolved by the jury.

The plaintiff's conduct must be analyzed in the light of all the circumstances. It appears to us there are only three possible views that anyone can take as to the facts revealed by the evidence in this case. The circumstances surrounding the accident might have been such as disclosed by the overwhelming evidence introduced by the defendant; the circumstances might have been such as disclosed by the plaintiff's evidence; or the circumstances might have been as related by the plaintiff, except only as to his testimony that there were no lights on the defendant's caboose. Analysis of the plaintiff's conduct separately in the light of each of these three possible views with respect to the circumstances of the accident will lead to the same conclusion—that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law.

A. The Plaintiff was Guilty of Contributory Negligence as a Matter of Law if the Evidence of the Defendant was True.

Several witnesses testified that the crossing where this accident occurred was well lighted and the flasher warning signal was operating; that the defendant's engine was more than 400 feet north of the crossing; that there were lights on the caboose and one of defendant's employes was standing on the leading platform of the caboose waving a lighted lantern in his hand and yelling to warn the plaintiff; that another of defendant's employes was standing on the crossing with a lantern in his hand which he

was waving at the plaintiff; and finally, that the plaintiff failed to see or ignored all of these warnings but proceeded heedlessly over the crossing and into collision with the caboose. If plaintiff's conduct is measured in the light of such evidence, it is clear that he failed to satisfy the standard of care which the law imposed upon him. This is so clear as to obviate citation of authorities or further analysis.

In the event the court feels the defendant is not entitled to have its evidence considered to the exclusion of that presented by the plaintiff, it will be necessary to analyze the plaintiff's conduct in the light of the other two possible views of the evidence.

B. Plaintiff Was Guilty of Contributory Negligence as a Matter of Law if the Evidence of the Plaintiff is Accepted as True, Save Only as Plaintiff Testified there were No Lights on the Caboose.

We believe this view of the evidence, which is the third possibility mentioned above, was the one which was taken by the trial court. We believe that it is the view which should be taken by the Supreme Court on this appeal. The plaintiff testified there were no lights on the front end of the caboose. But even if all of the plaintiff's other testimony is accepted as true, this statement should be rejected because plaintiff's limited opportunity for observation and his mental attitude at the moment of observation render it insufficient to raise a conflict with the testimony of defendant's witnesses that the caboose was lighted.

This argument involves consideration of the law with respect to the sufficiency of negative testimony. Of course, negative testimony should not be disregarded merely because it is negative. Frequently, there is no way for a plaintiff in a negligence action to prove his case except by negative testimony, since proof of negligence often involves proof of a negative. It is nonetheless true that such evidence must be accepted with caution; that while the jury has the function of determining its weight, still it is for the court first to determine its sufficiency; and that rather definite standards have been established in this jurisdiction and elsewhere to test such sufficiency. It is the defendant's position that the trial court should have and did determine that the plaintiff's testimony failed to meet such standards and could not therefore be considered to raise a dispute as to the fact in this regard.

Most of the cases dealing with this subject involve the question as to whether or not audible signals were given. In principle, however, such cases are identical with the present one. Each involves the reliability of human sensory perception—in one case the reliability of the ear, and in the other, that of the eyes.

In *Russell v. Watkins*, 49 Utah 598, 164 P. 867, the Utah court, apparently for the first time, announced its position with respect to sufficiency of negative testimony. In this case, plaintiff, riding a motorcycle, approached a horse and wagon traveling in the opposite direction. The defendant was driving an automobile behind the wagon. He turned out to pass the wagon and collided head on with plaintiff's motorcycle. Both plaintiff and the driver of the

wagon testified defendant did not blow his horn. The court held that the defendant's positive testimony that he did blow his horn was uncontradicted. We quote what we believe to be the pertinent portion of the court's opinion:

“* * * When we take into consideration that the plaintiff, according to his own testimony, was at the time without thought and wholly unaware of the approach of defendant's automobile, that he was seated on a motorcycle moving at the rate of 15 to 20 miles per hour, that his view of the traveled road was obscured by Bryson's approaching wagon and horses, and of necessity had to cross immediately to the east side of the highway for safety and in passing the Bryson vehicle, and that the witness Bryson was, at the same time, apprehensively riveting his attention on the motorcycle approaching him, on account of his own safety, and through fear of the horse he was driving making him trouble, we may well believe these witnesses 'did not hear' the horn sounded by the defendant on his approach.

“The weight of negative testimony of witnesses, as to the giving of signals, ordinarily is for the jury to determine; but *when physical conditions and the attending circumstances are such as to render it highly improbable that they could hear, we think the rule should be and is otherwise.*” (Italics ours.)

In *Jensen v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.*, 59 Utah 367, 204 P. 101, there was negative testimony that no warning bell was rung by defendant's engine. This testimony was from a boy standing near the track, alongside the deceased. He and the deceased had their attention directed to another engine approaching from the opposite direction. The court held that this evidence did not present a conflict with posi-

tive evidence that the bell was ringing and the whistle blowing, and stated as follows:

“This is not a case in which the witness claims to have been listening for signals and failed to hear them. The witness in this case was not consciously listening at all. His attention was directed in another direction, and his mind was engrossed with other matters. Besides this, the freight train to which his attention was directed was pulling up-grade and making considerable noise. In view of all of these circumstances and conditions, it cannot be contended that the testimony of the witness Priest to the effect that he did not hear the bell rung or the whistle blow can be considered as evidence at all that the bell did not ring or that the whistle did not blow * * *.”

“In the face of such evidence as this, together with the conditions and circumstances heretofore enumerated, the writer is of the opinion that the statement of the witness Priest that he did not hear the whistle blow or the bell ring created no conflict in the evidence, and that therefore the testimony of defendant’s witnesses as to the warning given stands uncontradicted and unimpeached * * *.”

The subject is again treated by the Utah court in *Anderson v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 76 Utah 324, 289 P. 146, wherein the court announced the following standard in measuring the sufficiency of negative testimony that no whistle was sounded or bell rung:

“* * * To entitle negative testimony such as that of Reddon and Thompson affecting the ringing of the bell and blowing of the whistle on the occasion in question to any probative value, it must be made to appear that they were paying some at-

tention to what actually occurred and that they were in a position where they could and did observe what was done or what was not done * * *."

And in *Clark, et al., v. Union Pacific, et al.*, 70 Utah 29, 257 P. 1050, the rule was announced in the following words:

"* * * Though a witness was not specially listening for the signals, or giving special attention to the occurrence, yet, if his attention was not engrossed or devoted to other things, *and it being made to appear that he was in position to hear, and in all likelihood would have heard them had they been given*, his testimony that he heard none is still of probative value and is not to be disregarded, though its weight be not regarded as great as the testimony of a witness who testified that he was specially watching and listening for signals, and heard none, or of a witness that they were or were not given * * *." (Italics ours.)

Finally, in *Hudson v. Union Pac. R. Co.* (not yet reported), the court concluded that the plaintiff's negative testimony that no bell was rung and no whistle blown was sufficient to create a conflict for the following reason, and we quote from the court's opinion:

"* * * *Mrs. Hudson was in a position where it is likely that she would have heard the whistle or at least the bell*, and, as there is no evidence that her attention was so absorbed in other matters that she would not have heard, a jury question is presented." (Italics ours.)

In *Bergman v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co.*, 14 F. 2d 580, which is an opinion from the Eighth Circuit Court of Ap-

peals, two witnesses to a fatal railroad crossing accident were in an automobile on the opposite side of the railroad crossing and came to a stop at the crossing just as the train passed. The weather was stormy, snow was falling, and the wind was blowing so that the sound of a whistle or bell would be carried away from these witnesses. The court, in holding that the testimony of these two witnesses presented no conflict with positive testimony that the crossing signals were given, stated as follows:

“* * * The applicable rule, well established by the authorities, is that, where the attention of those testifying to a negative was not attracted to the occurrence which they say they did not see or hear, and *where their situation was not such that they probably would have observed it*, their testimony is not inconsistent with that of credible witnesses who were in a situation favorable for observation and who testify affirmatively and positively to the occurrence * * *.” (Italics ours.)

To the same effect see *Pere Marquette Ry. Co. v. Anderson*, 29 F. 2d 479.

Miller v. Abel Construction Co., 140 Neb. 482, 300 N. W. 405, is a case in which the facts are quite similar to the case at bar. In that case, plaintiff was riding in an automobile being driven by her husband when it crashed into a road roller being operated by one of defendant's employes. Plaintiff and her husband testified that the defendant failed to have a red light displayed on the rear of the roller. As the automobile in which the plaintiff and her husband were riding approached the roller, at night-time, they passed another car traveling in the opposite

direction, and the driver of each automobile dimmed his headlights. Immediately on passing this automobile, plaintiff and her husband saw the roller for the first time, 10 or 15 feet in front of them. The court held that the testimony of plaintiff and her husband that there was no light on the roller raised no conflict with positive testimony that a red light was displayed. We quote from the court's decision in this case:

"The defendant's witnesses * * * testified positively that the red lantern on the roller was lighted prior to the collision. In the face of this positive testimony that the red light was displayed, the fact that there is testimony of one or more witnesses that they did not see it will not prevail against the positive testimony of several witnesses in making an issuable fact for the jury, *where the attention of the witnesses was not directed toward the red light at the time it is said to have been displayed, and where their position, mental condition, and the surroundings were not such as would raise a presumption that they would have seen it if it had been displayed* * * *." (Italics ours.)

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